

ASTSOI

# QUALITATIVE ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTES TO BE DISPOSED OF IN DEEP GEOLOGICAL FORMATIONS

ARCHIVES-AC ...../...../...../



A TECHNICAL DOCUMENT ISSUED BY THE INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, VIENNA, 1990 The IAEA does not normally maintain stocks of reports in this series. However, microfiche copies of these reports can be obtained from

> INIS Clearinghouse International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramerstrasse 5 P.O. Box 100 A-1400 Vienna, Austria

Orders should be accompanied by prepayment of Austrian Schillings 100,in the form of a cheque or in the form of IAEA microfiche service coupons which may be ordered separately from the INIS Clearinghouse.

QUALITATIVE ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA FOR RADIOACTIVE WASTES TO BE DISPOSED OF IN DEEP GEOLOGICAL FORMATIONS IAEA, VIENNA, 1990 IAEA-TECDOC-560 ISSN 1011-4289

> Printed by the IAEA in Austria May 1990

#### FOREWORD

This report is part of the IAEA's programme on underground disposal of radioactive wastes in which the Agency has been active for many years.

Initially, the work of the Agency was focused on general criteria for underground disposal of radioactive active waste and the Agency report "Criteria for Underground Disposal of Solid Radioactive Wastes", IAEA Safety Series No. 60, was published in 1983.

Later the disposal of intermediate level wastes and of those containing short lived radionuclides in shallow ground was given priority since there was a need in many Member States for guidance in this area and the Agency's report "Acceptance Criteria for Disposal of Radioactive Wastes in Shallow Ground and Rock Cavities", IAEA Safety Series No. 71, was published in 1985.

The present report is linked to the Agency's Safety Standards document on "Safety Principles and Technical Criteria for the Underground Disposal of High Level Radioactive Wastes" (IAEA Safety Series No. 99, 1989). It is concerned with the disposal of high level, intermediate level and alpha bearing wastes and sets out qualitative waste acceptance criteria for use in developing deep geological repository concepts.

The first draft of the present text was prepared in Vienna by a group of consultants in June 1985. Further drafts were prepared by an Advisory Group Meeting in Vienna in January 1986, the Technical Review Committee on Underground Disposal of Radioactive Wastes (TRCUD) in February 1986, a Consultants' Meeting in Vienna in March 1987, the TRCUD in February 1988 and by S. Wingefors (Sweden) and the Agency's Scientific Secretary I.F. Vovk. Final revision was carried out by D.W. Clelland (United Kingdom) in October 1989.

Those who contributed to the preparation of this document, and to whom the Agency wishes to express its gratitude, are given in the list of participants below.

# EDITORIAL NOTE

In preparing this material for the press, staff of the International Atomic Energy Agency have mounted and paginated the original manuscripts and given some attention to presentation.

The views expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the governments of the Member States or organizations under whose auspices the manuscripts were produced.

The use in this book of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of their products or brand names does not imply any endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

# CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION		
	1.1. Background      1.2. Objectives	7 7	
	1.3. Scope	8	
	1.4. Structure	8.	
2.	DEFINITIONS	9	
3.	BASIC INFORMATION ON THE WASTES AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS	13	
	3.1. General	13	
	3.2. Radiation protection objectives	13	
	3.3. Regulatory considerations	14	
	3.4. Waste characteristics	14	
	3.4.1. General	14	
	3.4.2. Sources and types of waste	14	
	3.4.2.1. High level waste (Category I) and spent nuclear fuel	14	
	3.4.2.2. Other wastes for disposal in deep geological formations		
	(Categories II and III)	15	
	3.4.3. Waste forms	15	
	3.4.3.1. General	15	
	3.4.3.2. Heat generating wastes (Category I)	15	
	3.4.3.3. Non-heat generating wastes containing significant quantities of	10	
	alpha bearing nuclides (Categories II and III)	16	
	3.4.4. Waste containers	17	
	3.5. Transportation	17	
	3.6 Deep geological repositories	17	
	3.6.1. General	17	
		18	
	8 8		
	3.6.3. Repository concepts	18	
	3.6.4. Backfill	18	
4.	DEVELOPMENT OF WASTE ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA	19	
	4.1. General	19	
	4.2. Major steps in criteria development	19	
	4.3. Bases for criteria	20	
5.	WASTE ACEPTANCE CRITERIA	21	
	5.1. Waste form and waste package criteria	21	
	5.1.1. Radionuclide inventory	21	
	5.1.2. Thermal power, thermal loads, and thermal effects	21	
	5.1.3. Nuclear criticality	22	
	5.1.4. Radiation effects, radiation damage and contamination control	23	

5.	Mechanical stability, mechanical strength, and stress resistance
5.	Combustibility and thermal resistance
5.	Gas generation
5.	Free liquids
5.	
5.	D. Compressed gases
5.	1. Toxic and corrosive materials
5.	2. Chemical durability
5.	B. Physical dimensions and weights
5.	Unique identification
5.2. Qi	y assurance criteria
5.3	Responsibilities and organization
5.1	Quality control
	5.2.2.1. Control of the conditioning process
	5.2.2.2. Checks on waste packages
	5.2.2.3. Records
5.2	Compliance with codes and standards
REFERENC	
LIST OF PA	ICIPANTS

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

The objective of a radioactive waste disposal system is to ensure that man will not suffer unacceptable detriment from the disposed wastes at present or in the future.

With the aim of providing IAEA Member States with basic guidance on protection of humans from the hazards associated with deep geological disposal, an internationally agreed set of principles and criteria has been published in an Agency's Safety Standards document on "Safety Principles and Technical Criteria for the Underground Disposal of High Level Radioactive Wastes" (IAEA Safety Series No. 99, 1989) [1]. Its intention is to form a basis for specifying more detailed standards and criteria for use in the subsequent stages of development of underground waste disposal concepts.

Generally, the efficiency of a disposal system depends upon a number of components - the waste form, the waste package, the backfill material, the geological formation and the surrounding environment. These components should be selected and/or designed to be compatible and to achieve the required degree of isolation.

In the longer term, the isolation capability of a waste disposal system will depend on the combined performance of its components. Therefore, it is necessary that an overall system approach is applied in the repository development. This implies that any less favourable characteristics or deficiencies in one component can be compensated for by adding or, improving the performance in, another component thereby so achieving the required degree of isolation for the whole system.

Since the nature of the waste and its packaging is an important component of a waste disposal system, their minimum level of performance should be defined by responsible national authorities. A basis for such definition includes the waste acceptance criteria which specify the characteristics of the waste form and its packaging which have to be fulfilled before acceptance for disposal. To ensure compliance with criteria, a quality assurance programme for waste conditioning and packaging is required.

The present Safety Guide has to be seen as a companion document to the IAEA Safety Series No. 99 [1]. It is concerned with the waste form which is an important component of the overall disposal system. Because of the broad range of waste types and conditioned forms and variations in the sites, designs and constructional approaches being considered for deep geological repositories, this report necessarily approaches the waste acceptance criteria in a general way, recognizing that the assignment of quantitative limits to these criteria has to be the responsibility of national authorities.

#### 1.2 Objectives

The main objective of this Safety Guide is to set out qualitiative waste acceptance criteria as a basis for specifying quantitative limits for the waste forms and packages which are intended to be disposed of in deep geolgoical repositories. It should serve as guidance for assigning such parameter values which would fully comply with the safety assessment and performance of a waste disposal system as a whole.

This document is intended to serve both national authorities and regulatory bodies involved in the development of deep underground disposal systems.

#### 1.3 Scope

The qualitative waste acceptance criteria dealt with in the present Safety Guide are primarily concerned with the disposal of high level, intermediate level and long-lived alpha bearing wastes in deep geological repositories. Although some criteria are also applicable in other waste disposal concepts, it has to be borne in mind that the set of criteria presented her shall ensure the isolation capability of a waste disposal system for periods of time much longer than for other waste streams with shorter lifetimes.

With respect to the intention of some Member States to use the deep geological disposal concept also for other types of wastes, especially short lived, it is expected that the criteria presented here will cope with all requirements arising from these waste streams.

The high level waste in this Safety Guide comprises the highly radioactive materials originating from the reprocessing of irradiated nuclear fuel and any other waste with similar radioactivity levels, but also spent reactor fuel, if it is declared a waste.

The criteria do not address any retrieval of the waste after the closure of the reporisitory.

#### 1.4 Structure

The Safety Guide begins with an overview of definitions to assure proper understanding and interpretation of the key terms used in the document. A detailed description of waste types and forms is followed by a characterisation of the most existing deep geological disposal options being considered worldwide. A subsequent section is dedicated to a procedure, presented in general terms, for the identification and development of waste acceptance criteria. In the next section, a number of generic and qualitative criteria are given together with guidelines for their quantification.

The Safety Guide is supplemented with a bibliogrpahy and with a list of drafting and reviewing bodies who have participated in the preparation of this document.

#### 2. **DEFINITIONS**

The following definitions are intended to assure proper understanding and interpretation of the key terms used in this Safety Guide. They have been taken from IAEA-TECDOC-447, the Radioactive Waste Management Glossary [2]. Some terms which are not contained in that document have been defined in a sense in which they are commonly used in the radioactive waste management field, others should be considered as an explanation in the context of this document only.

- backfill: The material used to refill the excavated portions of a repository or of a borehole after waste has been emplaced.
- barrier (natural or engineered): A feature which delays or prevents radionuclide migration from the waste and/or repository into its surroundings. An engineered barrier is a feature made by or altered by man; it may be part of the waste package and/or part of the repository.
- biosphere: That portion of the Earth's environment inhabited by any living organisms. It comprises parts of the atmosphere, the hydrosphere (ocean, seas, inland waters and subterranean waters) and the lithosphere.
- chemical durability: The ability to withstand the effects of chemically induced processes such as corrosion, dissolution, phase transformations, etc.

closure: Final sealing of the repository.

- competent authority: A national authority designated for a specific purpose by a Government of a Member State.
- conditioning of waste: Those operations that transform waste into a form suitable for transport and/or storage and/or disposal. The operations may include converting the waste to another form, enclosing the waste in containers, and providing additional packaging.
- confinement of waste: The segregation of radionuclides from the human environment and the restriction of their release into that environment in unacceptable quantities or concentrations.
- containment: The retention of radioactive material in such a way that it is effectively prevented from becoming dispersed into the environment or only released at an acceptable rate.
- criteria: Principles or standards on which a decision or judgement can be based. They may be qualitative or quantitative. Acceptance criteria are set by a regulatory authority. (Some Member States use terms such as 'protection goals' instead of 'acceptance criteria'.)
- deep geological formation: Rock formations such as rock salt, argillaceous formations or crystalline rocks at depths suitable for the construction of deep underground repositories.

deep underground repository: Underground cavities developed in geological formations at depths intended to provide long term isolation of high level and long-lived radioactive wastes. Normally only depths larger than 200 m in dry formations and 500 m in water-bearing formations are considered. (N.B. Disposal in rock cavities and sub-seabed disposal are not considered as deep underground disposal.)

disposal system: see waste disposal system

- emplacement: The placement of a waste package in its final repository location.
- heat producing waste: Radioactive waste which by radioactive decay generates heat within the waste and its surroundings in such quantities that it must be considered during handling, transportation, storage and when disposed in a repository.

high level waste:

- (i) The highly radioactive liquid, containing mainly fission products, as well as some actinides, which is separated during chemical reprocessing of irradiated fuel (aqueous waste from the first solvent extraction cycle and those waste streams combined with it).
- (ii) Spent reactor fuel, if it is declared a waste.
- (iii) Any other waste with a radioactivity level comparable to (i) or (ii).
- implementing organization: The organization (and its contractors) that performs activities in order to select and investigate the suitability of a site for a nuclear facility, and that undertakes to design, construct, commission, operate and shut down such a facility.
- intermediate level waste: Waste of a lower activity level and heat output than high level waste, but which still requires shielding during handling and transportation. The term is used generally to refer to all wastes not defined as either high level or low level.

isolation of waste: See confinement of waste.

- lithosphere: A broad general term which refers to the upper rigid part of the Earth's crust.
- long lived radionuclides: For waste management purposes, a radioactive
   isotope with a half-life greater than about 30 years.
- long lived waste: Waste that will not decay to an acceptable activity
   level in a period of time during which administrative controls can be
   expected to last.
- long term: In waste management, refers to periods of time which exceed the time during which administrative controls can be expected to last.
- low level waste: Waste which, because of its low radionuclide content, does not require shielding during normal handling and transportation.

- multi-barrier: A system using two or more independent barriers to isolate the waste from the human environment. These can include the waste form, the container (canister), other engineered barriers and the emplacement medium and its environment.
- operational period: The period of time when waste packages are prepared for disposal and emplaced.
- overpack (used as a noun): A component added to previously conditioned waste to provide additional functional capability.
- overpack (used as a verb): Application of a component as described above.
- packing: A component which may be used with waste packages for disposal which is generally located between the waste container and the host rock.

packaging: See waste packaging.

- post-sealing period: The period after a waste repository has been shut down and sealed.
- quality assurance: Planned and systematic actions necessary to provide adequate confidence that an item, facility or person will perform satisfactorily in service.
- quality control: Actions which provide a means to control and measure the characteristics of an item, process, facility or person in accordance with quality assurance requirements.
- radioactive waste: Any material that contains or is contaminated with radionuclides at concentrations or radioactivity levels greater than the 'exempt quantities' established by the competent authorities and for which no use is foreseen.
- regulatory authority: An authority or system of authorities designated by the Government of a Member State as having the legal authority for conducting the licensing process, for issuing of licenses and thereby for regulating the siting, design, construction, commissioning, operation, shutdown, decommissioning and subsequent control of nuclear facilities (e.g. waste repositories) or specific aspects thereof. This authority could be a body (existing or to be established) in the field of nuclear-related health and safety or mining safety or environmental protection, vested with such legal or environmental protection, vested with such legal authority, or it could be the Government or a department of the Government, or it could be an international agency.
- repository: An underground facility in which waste may be emplaced for disposal.
- repository operator: The organization responsible for the operation of the repository.

repository system: A repository and all its supporting facilities.

shallow ground disposal: Disposal of radioactive waste, with or without engineered barriers, above or below the ground surface, where the final protective covering is of the order of a few metres thick.

- short lived radionuclide: For waste management purposes, a radionuclide
   with a half-life shorter than about 30 years.
- short lived waste: Waste which will decay to a level which is considered to be insignificant from a radiological viewpoint, in a time period during which administrative controls can be expected to last.
- shutdown and sealing: Action taken, after disposal operations have ceased, to prepare an installation for abandonment or minimum surveillance.
- site: The area containing a nuclear installation (e.g. a waste repository that is defined by a boundary and which is under effective control of the implementing organization.
- storage: The placement of waste in a facility with the intent that it will be retrieved at a later time.
- underground disposal: Disposal of waste at an appropriate depth below the ground surface.
- waste conditioner: The responsible organization for the facility where the waste is conditioned. The waste can be subsequently conditioned at many places, e.g. for transportation and storage at the site of generation and for disposal at the disposal facility.
- waste disposal system: a combination of geological environment, a repository and waste packages emplaced in the repository.
- waste form: The physical and chemical form of the waste (e.g. liquid, in concrete, in glass, etc.) without its packaging.
- waste management: All activities, administrative and operational, that are involved in the handling, treatment, conditioning, transportation, storage and disposal of waste.
- waste owner: The organization which holds title to the waste.
- waste package: The waste form and any container(s) as prepared for handling, transportation, storage and/or disposal. A cask or overpack may be a permanent part of the waste package or it may be re-usable for any waste management step. The waste package may vary for the different steps in waste management.
- waste packaging: Any component or assembly of components which is applied to a waste form during conditioning to prepare it for disposal.
- waste producer: The responsible organization for the facility where the waste is generated or conditioned.

#### 3. BASIC INFORMATION ON THE WASTES AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

## 3.1 General

The IAEA has recently proposed six categories of solid radioactive waste with respect to disposal [3]. They are based on the half-lives of the radionuclides and on the activity level of the waste which may require the use of shieldings and, in some cases, take into account the heat output. These categories are set out in Table 1.

TABLE 1. GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS OF WASTE CATEGORIES WITH REGARD TO DISPOSAL

1		shielding/heat	shielding	no shielding	
classification linked to disposal	long-lived heat	Category I High-level waste			
	long-lived		Category II Long-lived intermediate- level waste	Category III Long-lived low- level waste	
	short-lived		Category IV Short-lived intermediate- level waste	Category V Short-lived low- level waste	
					Category VI Exempt waste

classification linked to handling

The preferred disposal options have been identified in previous IAEA Safety Series reports [4-6] and the criteria for disposal of solid radioactive waste have been set out in other IAEA documents [7, 8]. This Safety Guide will deal with waste categories I, II and III and with spent fuel, if it is to be disposed of in a repository. Spent fuel may require disposal in countries operating an 'open' fuel cycle which does not involve reprocessing and plutonium recycle.

#### 3.2 Radiation protection objectives

In the development of waste acceptance criteria, the prime objective is to provide the required radiological protection of man in accordance with internationally agreed radiation protection principles during waste conditioning and packaging and the operational and post-operational phases of the repository. The system of dose limitation recommended by ICRP [9] and incorporated in the IAEA Basic Safety Standards [10] is generally accepted by national authorities. This is based on the three fundamental principles,

- justification of a practice,
- optimization of radiation protection, and
- limitation of exposure to individuals.

During waste conditioning and packaging and the operational phase of disposal, the application of these principles is well established and accepted, as it is basically the same as at other facilities for the handling and processing of radioactive materials.

The ICRP has given recommendations [11] on the application of radiation protection principles for the long term aspects of radioactive waste disposal. Work in this field is also being carried out by the OECD/NEA [12] and by several national authorities, which have decided to adopt deep geological disposal [13-16]. National authorities may use this background information to develop guidelines for the post-operational radiological protection requirements of deep geological repositories.

#### 3.3 Regulatory considerations

The responsibilities of national regulatory bodies depend upon national policies, legislation and regulations and consequently a standard scheme for a regulatory framework cannot be given. The national regulatory authorities in individual countries will develop and implement regulatory procedures, the main aim of which are to ensure that the waste is handled safely from the time of its generation to its final disposal and that it is effectively confined within the geosphere afterwards. An IAEA report on regulation of underground repositories for disposal of radioactive wastes has been published [17].

#### 3.4 Waste characteristics

#### 3.4.1 General

The characteristics of the waste may have a major effect upon the performance of the disposal system. In the following subsections an outline is given of the sources and types of waste, the forms of conditioned waste and waste packaging.

#### 3.4.2 Sources and types of waste

3.4.2.1. High level waste (Category I) and spent nuclear fuel

High level waste and spent nuclear fuel (if declared a waste) are both characterized by the emission of decay heat due to the presence of large amounts of fission products in high concentration. This release of thermal energy is of importance in the design of a repository where the heat will pass from the waste form through its packaging and other barrier materials around the waste package and will be dissipated in the surrounding host rock formation. The rate and duration of the heat release will affect the physical and chemical processes involved in barrier and host rock performance.

Other waste types, especially fuel cladding materials, might also give rise to significant heat generation, although to a lesser degree and of shorter duration. High level waste originates from the reprocessing of spent nuclear fuel. Its radionuclide content depends upon the type, enrichment, and burnup of the fuel and the time elapsed after the discharge of the fuel from the reactor. The waste, which is collected and stored at reprocessing plants in the liquid form, must be solidified before disposal. Generally, in order to reduce the effect of fission product decay heat and radiation during conditioning and later in the disposal stage, the liquid waste and conditioned product are stored for periods of time to allow sufficient decay of fission products.

Disposal of spent nuclear fuel without reprocessing is an option being considered in some countries. Before emplacement in a repository, the spent fuel will usually be stored at the reactor or in an interim storage facility, thus providing for some decay of heat-producing radioactivity which will facilitate the subsequent conditioning, transport and disposal.

3.4.2.2 Other wastes for disposal in deep geological formations (Categories II and III)

These wastes originate mainly from reprocessing of spent nuclear fuel and from plutonium fuel fabrication operations. The main wastes in these categories are, fuel cladding materials, spent ion exchange resins, plutonium contaminated materials and other redundant equipment.

Since most of these waste types contain appreciable quantities of alpha emitting radionuclides, it is generally considered that they too must be permanently isolated from man's environment, preferably by deep geological disposal. The main difference between the wastes in Category II and those in Categories III is the absence of necessity for shielding in the latter.

#### 3.4.3 Waste forms

3.4.3.1 General

The term waste form refers to the physical and chemical form of the waste within its packaging.

Operations which transform waste into a form more suitable for transport, storage or disposal are termed conditioning of the waste.

Special methods of conditioning are employed to solidify or immobilize liquid wastes since free liquid must be avoided in waste packages. In addition, conditioned waste should be monolithic in nature and not an easily dispersed particulate material.

The term waste package means the waste form and any container for handling, transportation, storage or disposal. A cask or overpack may be a permanent part of the waste package or it may be reusable. The waste package may vary at different stages in the waste management procedure.

3.4.3.2 Heat generating wastes (Category I)

<u>High level waste</u>. Several processes for the solidification of high level waste have been developed and tested. However, only vitrification (i.e. the incorporation of radionuclides into a glass matrix) has as yet reached the stage of full-scale industrial application. Other processess under development include incorporation into ceramic, crystalline or mineral-like matrices. In the vitrification process the glass matrix is based on borosilicates, and the solid form has a number of desirable properties, such as thermal stability, radiation resistance and low leach rate. This process has been extensively reported in the literature [18-21].

Spent nuclear fuel. The main objective of conditioning spent nuclear fuel is to provide a corrosion resistant containment. In some countries the reference concept involves direct encapsulation of spent fuel assemblies in a suitable container. However, in order to achieve sufficient radiation shielding and at the same time preclude nuclear criticality it might prove necessary to surround the fuel by a dense matrix or stabilizer [22]. With the object of volume reduction other concepts involve consolidation of fuel pins, which have been removed from assemblies, in a suitable container [23].

Other heat generating wastes. Heat generation in waste types other than high level waste and spent fuel, e.g. fuel cladding materials, is generally produced by decay of activation products with relatively short half-lives. Typically, these wastes are stored for a period before conditioning to allow the activation products to decay to acceptable levels followed by incorporation in a suitable matrix, e.g. cement.

3.4.3.3 Non-heat generating wastes containing significant quantities of alpha bearing nuclides (Categories II and III)

Although the wastes in this category have low content of beta/gamma emitters they are not suitable for shallow ground disposal because of their alpha activity levels and long radioactive half-lives and should be routed to deep geological disposal.

In principle, all radioactive waste relating to the nuclear fuel cycle might contain alpha emitting radionuclides. It is, therefore, of great importance that appropriate limits on concentrations of alpha bearing nuclides are set for short lived wastes (categories IV and V) if a separation between deep geological disposal and, for example, shallow ground disposal is desired. Depending on the depth of disposal, these limits may range from 10 to  $10^4$  Bq/g [24] and, for practical reasons, they have to apply as an average for each waste package.

The treatment and conditioning of low and intermediate level wastes is dealt with in several publications [18, 25 and 26].

Liquid and wet wastes. Numerous methods for conditioning of alpha bearing wastes have been tested, but only very few have been applied in full-scale operations. The most important are solidification in cement or bitumen, or packaging of the dried material.

At present cementation is believed to be appropriate for most purposes. A relatively high degree of radiation shielding can easily be provided and the process is flexible.

Bituminization can give a product with good leaching properties although the long term behaviour of this waste form is uncertain at high waste loadings [27]. Bitumen is a combustible material and this must be taken into account in conditioning, subsequent handling, transportation, and disposal.

Both cementation and bituminization are capable of providing good retention of alpha emitters.

Solid wastes. Combustible waste may be incinerated to reduce the waste volume [28], however, special care should be taken when alpha emitters are present in high concentrations. The ashes may be incorporated into a cement or bitumen matrix or may be compacted by high pressure to reduce the possibility of dispersion.

Non-combustible wastes may be compacted, reducing the waste volume by factors up to 10 and/or they may be encapsulated in a matrix such as cement. The latter might be appropriate for the more highly active wastes. It should be noted that decomposition of organic materials in a repository might give rise to complexation and gas generation [28].

#### 3.4.4 Waste containers

The use of containers for wastes and spent nuclear fuel is a necessary pre-requisite for handling, transportation, storage and emplacement operations.

After emplacement the use of containers ensures complete in situ containment of wastes for the physical life of the container. For certain periods of time, after the container failure, the backfill materials surrounding the primary package, may undertake the containment function by hindering or, at least, slowing down the release rate of radionuclides.

The development of waste packages to achieve desired performance targets should be carried out on a repository and site specific basis. Factors which should be considered are, the geochemical environment, the groundwater characteristics, the hydrostatic and lithostatic loads, and the thermo-mechanical properties of the host rock. The effect of radiation and heat upon the host rock and groundwater should also be considered.

#### 3.5 Transportation

Requirements for the safe transport of radioactive materials are regulated by most national authorities according to the basic IAEA transport regulations [29]. These regulations detail criteria on the waste package for transportation including such factors as radionuclide inventory, heat load, and mechanical strength.

#### 3.6 Deep geological repositories

#### 3.6.1 General

Waste acceptance criteria for deep underground disposal are influenced by the repository design and the gelogical medium chosen. It should be noted, however, that the design of a repository is also directly dependent on the site specific conditions and on the characteristics of the waste for disposal.

Disposal systems are designed to provide, not one, but a series of barriers between the waste and man (the multi-barrier concept), each intended to prevent, delay, or minimize the release of radionuclides. The following are examples of barriers in such systems,

- favourable properties of the waste form such as chemical durability, low leachability and low dispersibility,
- waste containers,

- backfill (sometimes termed buffer) materials surrounding the primary waste package,
- the host rock formation, and
- the environment which lies between the repository and man.

The effectiveness of the multi-barrier system may be such that a large degree of redundancy is involved in the isolation of the radioactive wastes. This should be regarded as a favourable property of the system design.

## 3.6.2 Suitable geological formations

Several types of geological formations are currently being considered as sites for radioactive waste repositories [30, 31],

- evaporitic rocks (e.g. rock salt),
- argillaceous formations (e.g. clays and shales), and
- hard rocks (e.g. granites, gabbro, gneisses and tuff).

The properties and characteristics of candidate formations have been discussed in detail in the literature [31].

#### 3.6.3 Repository concepts

The choice of site and the layout of a repository are dependent on several factors,

- the nature and type of the waste arisings,
- the geology of the site,
- regulatory requirements,
- the available technology, and
- costs.

It shold be borne in mind that the choice may also be influenced by other factors of political or socioeconomic nature, such as local public attitudes, ownership of sites, etc. In some countries, these factors may dominate the final decision.

At present, the concepts for deep geological repositories (at depths from 200 m to more than 1000 m) may be grouped as follows:

- mined cavities,
- mined cavities with emplacement boreholes, and
- deep boreholes.

#### 3.6.4 Backfill

Backfill materials surrounding the primary waste package are included in most repository concepts [32] with the following objective,

- to restrict the ingress and egress of groundwater,
- to condition the groundwater to a more favourable chemical state,
- to retard the release of radionuclides by sorption,

- to act as a plastic buffer protecting the waste materials from mechanical damage caused by stresses and displacements of the host rock,
- to interact chemically with the waste container materials and develop a protective layer, and
- to promote heat transfer from the waste containers to the host rock.

Backfill materials commonly considered are, concrete, clay, sand, vermiculite, magnesia, crushed rock, or mixtures of these to provide the desired functions. Backfill materials should be compatible with the waste container material and with the host rock, taking into account thermal and radiation effects in the vicinity of the package. In some concepts the backfill in an emplacement cavity is considered as a part of the waste package.

#### 4. DEVELOPMENT OF WASTE ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA

#### 4.1 General

In general, criteria for an underground disposal system can be related to the geological environment, the repository or the waste [7]. This document deals specifically with the acceptance criteria for only one component of the system, the waste, and is focussed on qualitative waste acceptance criteria for disposal in deep geological formations.

As the disposal system as a whole must be considered in safety assessments, it is not possible to establish generally valid quantitative waste acceptance criteria because the geological environment and the engineering concept at each repository will be different. Consequently, the safety of each individual disposal system must be demonstrated in site specific analyses of the operational and post-operational phases. These analyses will form a basis for establishing quantitative waste acceptance criteria.

In this section a procedure is presented, in general terms, for the identification and development of waste acceptance criteria. In the next section a number of generic and qualitative criteria are given together with guidelines for their quantification.

#### 4.2 Major steps in criteria development

The development of a disposal system and of the waste acceptance criteria for it is an iterative process from a first generic approach to the finally licensed site and approved procedures. Three stages can be identified in the development of waste acceptance criteria,

- at the initial planning stage criteria are defined in a very general form on the basis of the overall waste disposal strategy and general information on the types and quantities of wastes that have arisen or are expected to be generated. The availability of certain host rocks are recognized at this stage and disposal options identified. The preliminary qualitative and very general criteria developed are useful for a first safety assessment.

- <u>after the area survey and preliminary site selection</u> has been started the general characteristics of potential disposal sites are known and a more detailed safety assessment of the disposal system can be made. At this stage an iteration between waste package characteristics and repository design may lead to the formulation of preliminary quantitative criteria.
- at the site confirmation stage the final characteristics of the disposal system are established and a final safety assessment leads to the definition of quantitative waste acceptance criteria.

After licensing and the start of disposal operations, the waste acceptance criteria may be modified to reflect operating experience, technical development and scientific progress.

#### 4.3 Bases for criteria

It should be recognized that mechanisms which can result in the release of radionuclides will be different in both operational and post-operational phases. During the operational stage, the waste packages shall withstand all foreseeable abnormal handling conditions. In the post-operational stage, the major processes which can adversely affect the isolation capability of a disposal system will be the gradual degradation of conditioned wastes and their containers and the disruptive events potentially occuring in the future and affecting the repository and its environment.

Thus, to meet the overall safety objectives, the following requirements shall be fulfilled:

- the waste form, container, overpack and backfill shall be compatible with repository and its environment.
- the waste package shall satisfy the regulations for the transport of radioactive materials.
- the surface dose rate and surface contamination of the waste packages shall be commensurate with safe handling procedures.
- in case of abnormal handling the waste packages shall be capable of withstanding credible impacts without unacceptable dispersal of radioactive material.
- the waste package shall not contain materials that might lead to inadvertent release of activity or interact adversely with barriers or other materials in the repository, i.e. free liquids, explosive, pyrophoric or highly inflammable materials, or corrosive agents, and
- fissile materials in the waste must be limited to prevent criticality, and
- the package should provide complete containment for a substantial period of time. Any subsequent loss of containment should be gradual.

### 5. WASTE ACCEPTANCE CRITERIA

The criteria presented in this document provide general guidance in technical areas related to waste acceptance, for which more specific criteria should be developed by the appropriate national authorities.

In this chapter a number of qualitative waste acceptance criteria are given. They are of a sufficiently generic nature to cover most existing options for disposal in deep geological formations. The accompanying text provides guidance information that might be useful in quantification of the criteria.

#### 5.1 Waste form and waste package criteria

- 5.1.1 Radionuclide inventory
- <u>CRITERION</u>: The type, characteristics and contents of radionuclides in the waste package should be known with sufficient accuracy to ensure compliance with authorized limits and should be documented accordingly.

Limitations on the acceptability of wastes for disposal in a deep geologic repository may include specific activities and total quantities of radionuclides in the wastes. These should be approved by the competent national authority.

For spent fuel and high level wastes, the radionuclide inventory is primarily dependent upon fuel type, enrichment, burnup, and the time elapsed since the fuel was discharged from the reactor. For high level wastes, the radionuclide inventory may be determined by direct measurement during conditioning. For spent fuel, the radionuclide inventory may be estimated using suitably validated computer codes [33].

For intermediate and low level alpha bearing wastes the radionuclide inventory must be controlled by suitable quality assurance procedures to ensure that authorized limits will not be exceeded.

5.1.2 Thermal power, thermal loads, and thermal effects

- <u>CRITERION 1</u>: The thermal power output of the waste packages shall comply with limits applicable for storage, transportation and handling prior to emplacement.
- <u>CRITERION 2</u>: The thermal power output of the waste forms shall be limited such that any associated changes to physical, chemical and mechanical properties of the waste form, waste package components, other engineered barriers and repository components and the host rock do not adversely affect the safety of the overall disposal system.

Prior to disposal, the thermal power output of wastes must be limited so as to allow handling, storage and transportation operations in accordance with national regulations. Limitations on thermal power output shall also be established for all repository operations. In establishing the limiting thermal output of a waste package, the effects on all waste package components and other engineered barriers, as well as the time dependent temperature fields which result from the presence of all other heat sources in the repository, must be considered [32]. A detailed discussion of the effects of heat on the performance of deep geological repository components has been published in the literature [34, 35]. The determination of limits for thermal power should be made based on data from measurements and tests conducted under actual site specific conditions or close simulations thereof.

For high level wastes, the total thermal output may be reduced by prolonged storage prior to disposal. The specific heat output may be reduced by reducing the proportion of waste to matrix. Maximum glass temperatures in the vitrified glass product of 400-500°C have been identified to avoid such phenomena as phase separation and devitrification of borosilicate glass [36]. High level waste thermal outputs may be estimated directly from the radionuclide inventory using suitably validated computer codes [33].

The thermal output of spent fuel waste packages may be controlled by prolonged storage prior to disposal, or by varying the quantity of spent fuel per package. A temperature limit of from 350°C to 400°C has been identified to limit the possible failure of cladding due to stress rupture [37].

For heat generating intermediate level alpha bearing wastes, thermal output can be determined and controlled through the radionuclide inventory using appropriate calculational techniques. Limits on thermal output are mainly dependent upon the immobilization matrix used.

#### 5.1.3 Nuclear criticality

<u>CRITERION</u>: Waste packages shall be designed to preclude nuclear criticality of a single waste package. Handling, storage and disposal systems shall be designed and operated to ensure that criticality of arrays of waste packages cannot occur.

For spent fuel, there will be a significant quantity of fissile material present in waste packages such that single-package criticality may be possible. In this case, suitable engineered safeguards (i.e. insertion of a suitable nuclear poison in the waste package, or use of a "filler" material to eliminate voids) may be necessary.

For high level wastes in vitrified form, criticality is normally not a concern because of the typically low fissile material inventory. For other alpha bearing wastes, the content of fissile material in waste forms will also generally be low compared to spent fuel, such that single-package criticality may be controlled by specification of a suitably low total fissile inventory. However, where significant quantities of fissile material are present in the waste, conditioning methods should be evaluated to ensure that segregation and local concentrations of fissile materials will not occur.

In the long term it is also necessary to consider the possibility of leaching of fissile material from the waste and the possibility of local reconcentration of these materials.

5.1.4 Radiation effects, radiation damage and contamination control

- <u>CRITERION 1</u>: External radiation dose rates of conditioned waste packages shall be in compliance with the limits for facilities and equipment in which they will be handled, stored and transported prior to emplacement in a repository.
- <u>CRITERION 2</u>: Transferable radioactive contamination on the exterior of waste packages should be maintained within limits established for storage, transportation, and packaging facilities where wastes are to be handled.
- <u>CRITERION 3</u>: Radiation dose rates shall be controlled to levels sufficient to ensure that radiation-induced processes (such as radiolysis) and degradation of material properties of the waste package, repository components and the host rock do not occur to an unacceptable degree.

Competent national authorities should establish limits on package radiation levels to ensure the protection of workers and the public during normal operations. Control may be established by limiting radionuclide inventories during conditioning, or by use of supplemental shielding in the package. For most waste disposal systems this is not expected to be a limiting criterion.

Detailed discussion of the effects of radiation on waste forms and their packagings has been published in several documents [20 32, 38, 39].

In establishing the limitations on beta-gamma radiation to the backfill and the host rock, radiation induced effects such as radiolysis of the groundwater, radiolytic decomposition of air in an unsaturated medium, and of the backfill and host rock constituents must be evaluated. Limits should be set to maintain these effects at acceptable levels with respect to their long term impact on waste package components and engineered barriers. The limits should be based on experimental data obtained under site specific conditions and performance analyses based on validated models.

The effects of radionuclide decay, especially recoil from alpha decay on the waste form material must be evaluated, and limits established to maintain waste form material properties at acceptable levels. Limits on total alpha decay dose may be based on accelerated radiation tests of simulated waste forms, containing short lived alpha emitters to give total exposures approximating those expected for actual waste.

For high level wastes, external radiation doses may be controlled by adjusting the proportion of waste to matrix material during conditioning, by using a thick walled container to provide shielding, or by storage for decay of the waste prior to conditioning. Borosilicate glasses have been shown to be rather insensitive to alpha recoil damage because of their amorphous character and generally low concentrations of alpha emitters [40]. Crystalline waste forms may be more susceptible to alpha recoil damage.

For spent fuel, effective control of external radiation doses can be obtained by prolonged storage prior to encapsulation or by providing a thick walled container for shielding. Because of extensive damage to the fuel caused by fission in the reactor, additional damage due to alpha recoils in spent fuel is insignificant. For some intermediate level alpha bearing wastes external radiation levels may be high. These may be reduced by solidification in a dense matrix or by providing an external shield.

Control of surface contamination during the operational phase is necessary to minimize occupational radiation exposure, to limit the potential for spread of contamination to uncontrolled areas, and to facilitate maintenance of handling equipment which is exposed to the same environment as the waste container.

Contamination limits should be established for all waste types which have undergone conditioning through packaging, based on compliance with regulations set by the responsible national authority.

5.1.5 Mechanical stability, mechanical strength, and stress resistance

- <u>CRITERION 1</u>: The waste packages must be able to withstand stresses arising without unacceptable deterioration in their ability to accomplish safety related functions.
- <u>CRITERION 2</u>: Waste packages shall be designed such that, in conjunction with handling systems, releases due to mechanical impact under foreseeable incidents are limited to acceptable values.

Stresses which must be withstood might arise from normal handling and transportation loads during the operational period, from internal pressure due to gas generation or release, from external pressure due to lithostatic and hydrostatic loads, and from temperature gradients.

Preservation of assigned functions may require special design features in the waste package and/or the engineered barriers. For example, the performance of a tailored backfill or packing material might depend on the material's ability to retain its configuration. Thus, if a tailored packing material is to be used, voids within the waste package might have to be precluded in order to prevent collapse of the packing material.

For intermediate and low level alpha bearing wastes, the primary concern is maintaining the integrity of the containment boundary, and possibly of the waste form, throughout the operational period. However, the possibility of swelling of waste forms that contain certain materials, e.g. dehydrated salts and ion exchange resins, might have to be considered even for the long term [27].

Waste containers must be capable of sustaining a drop of a specified height, and other similar likely occurrences, without breach. The volatility and dispersibility of the waste form as well as the physical stability of the packaging should be evaluated to determine if adequate containment is provided. Foreseeable incidents and their consequences must be identified based on specific design features of storage, handling and disposal [41] facilities.

5.1.6 Combustibility and thermal resistance

<u>CRITERION 1</u>: High level waste packages, and spent fuel waste packages shall not contain combustible materials which could burn under normal repository conditions or foreseeable incidents. Intermediate and low level alpha waste packages containing combustible materials may be acceptable if the containers are non-combustible or heat resistant and do not support combustion under foreseeable incidents.

#### <u>CRITERION 2</u>: Waste packages shall be designed, so that, in conjunction with handling systems, releases due to thermal impact under foreseeable incidents are limited to acceptable values.

Combustibility is the ability of the waste package and waste form to be ignited and burn under normal repository conditions and foreseeable incidents. High level waste and spent fuel are typically treated and packaged in non-combustible forms.

Intermediate and low level alpha waste may contain appreciable amounts of organic materials (paper, bitumen, resins, and polymers) and require evaluation of its fire potential. This evaluation should include tests to determine the conditions under which wastes could be ignited. Experience indicates that it is difficult to ignite most of these materials under the conditions of foreseeable incidents.

The potential for fire can be reduced significantly by segregating wastes into flammable and non-flammable types and providing appropriate packaging.

Thermal impacts could occur in the operational phase, e.g. caused by a fire during transportation within a mined repository. In the detailed planning stage of a repository it is possible to evaluate existing combustible material that could affect the waste packages if it should be ignited. It has to be decided by the responsible authorities whether a fire can be precluded because of operational or administrative measures or has to be assumed for assessment purposes. In the latter case it is necessary to determine the temperature development of the fire and its duration as well as the behaviour of the waste packages under these conditions [41].

For some repository layouts it might also be necessary to consider thermal resistance of waste packages with regard to the temperature increase in the near-field after emplacement.

#### 5.1.7 Gas generation

<u>CRITERION</u>: Gas generation in the waste package or in surrounding media should not jeopardize the performance of the overall disposal system.

Gases may be generated by radiolysis, radionuclide disintegration, chemical reactions between the waste and its matrix, corrosion of waste package materials, or decomposition of organic materials. Spent fuel elements may contain gases injected at the time of manufacture (e.g. light water reactor fuel pins) and gases generated by the fission process. Breach of spent fuel cladding can release these gases to the interior of the waste package.

For intermediate and low level alpha wastes, gas generation may be caused by decomposition of organic materials induced by radiation and thermal effects or microbiological attack. Gas generation may also occur in the host rock due to radiolysis of the groundwater or of the host rock.

Gas generation may result in container pressurization, failure of engineered barriers, creation of more corrosive environments, or the dispersion and direct release of radionuclides. Container pressurization is not expected to be a significant problem with high level wastes and spent fuel. For intermediate and low level alpha wastes, conditioning should ensure that unacceptable releases due to pressurization do not occur during the operational period.

Gas generation around high level waste and spent fuel packages should be considered. It may be necessary to provide shielding to reduce doses or to provide more resistant backfill materials.

5.1.8 Free liquids

<u>CRITERION</u>: The quantity of free liquids in waste packages should be sufficiently low to ensure that the performance of the overall disposal system is not jeopardized.

For high level wastes, conditioning methods are expected to eliminate free liquids. For spent fuel, although damaged fuel pins may contain small amounts of water, this is not expected to present a significant problem in practice.

For intermediate and low level alpha wastes, conditioning methods should ensure that presence of free liquids does not result in the spread of contamination in the event of container breach and in the container degradation from within.

5.1.9 Explosive and pyrophoric materials, fire and explosion hazards

<u>CRITERION</u>: Waste packages containing materials that might cause explosion or ignition hazards shall not be accepted for disposal.

Wastes which contain explosive or pyrophoric materials, or materials which may interact to produce an explosion, should be conditioned to remove this hazard prior to acceptance for disposal.

5.1.10 Compressed gases

<u>CRITERION</u>: Containers of compressed gases should not be accepted for disposal.

Because of the stored energy of compressed gases (radioactive and/or non-radioactive), it is difficult to ensure their containment during disposal. However, if circumstances compel it, disposal of compressed gases should be undertaken only under special regulatory authorization.

5.1.11 Toxic and corrosive materials

- <u>CRITERION 1</u>: The contents of non-radioactive toxic and hazardous materials should be known with sufficient accuracy to ensure compliance with authorized limits.
- <u>CRITERION 2</u>: Waste forms should not contain materials which will corrode the waste containers or other barriers in the disposal system.

Low and intermediate level alpha bearing wastes may contain non-radioactive materials which are toxic and hazardous (e.g. mercury, cyanide and arsenic). These wastes should be evaluated for their total potential hazard and any requirements for treatment, conditioning or disposal should be established by competent national authorities.

Waste package materials should be compatible with the waste form. For low and intermediate level alpha wastes, conditioning should neutralize or immobilize materials which may be aggressive to waste packages.

#### 5.1.12 Chemical durability

#### <u>CRITERION 1</u>: The chemical durability of the waste package should be sufficient to provide the required containment of radionuclides in the disposal environment.

For high level wastes and spent fuel, waste packages may be required to provide complete containment of wastes for periods of several hundred years or more. For low and intermediate level alpha wastes, containment may be required only for the operational period with no post-operational containment period.

To meet containment requirements, container materials compatible with the repository and the host rock environment must be selected. In the selection of materials possible failure modes should be considered, including general corrosion, local corrosion, stress corrosion cracking and reactions which could alter material properties and cause early failures such as hydrogen embrittlement.

For all waste types, significant retention of radionuclides by the waste form may be necessary to meet overall safety standards [42]. However, although the radiation properties have often been considered as an important characteristic of the waste form, it has also been shown that the barrier function of waste containers can be of importance if the transfer time of radionuclides to the biosphere is long (more than 1000 years) [43].

The mechanisms by which radionuclides are expected to be released and transported from waste repositories are associated with the presence of groundwater. Percolation of groundwater through breached containers, leaching of radionuclides from the decomposed waste form and their dissolution are processes governing groundwater contamination. Additional processes, such as formation of colloids and complexes, will depend on actual groundwater chemistry. In unsaturated zone repositories, direct release of gaseous radionuclides to the atmosphere must also be considered. For spent fuel, breach of fuel pin cladding could release entrapped gases which may include radioactive components.

Secondary containers and backfill should be used to enhance the radionuclide retention performance of the waste package. For example backfill may be used to, retard the flow of groundwater to and from the container, adjust the chemistry of the groundwater, reduce the solubility of radionuclides, reduce the potential for colloid formation or retard gaseous releases by sorption.

Waste package performance under disposal conditions may be confirmed by results of tests which simulate repository conditions and theoretical modelling to extrapolate laboratory test results to long time periods.

A more detailed discussion of chemical durability of wastes and related factors may be found in published documents [44, 45].

#### 5.1.13 Physical dimensions and weights

<u>CRITERION</u>: The physical dimensions and weights of waste packages should be compatible with provisions for transport, handling and emplacement.

Compatibility with pre-existing capabilities is obviously desirable to the extent practical. However, special circumstances may warrant enhancement of existing capabilities. Where waste form and repository development work are proceeding in parallel, the waste producer and repository operator should agree to these parameters, especially waste package design.

#### 5.1.14 Unique identification

<u>CRITERION</u>: Each waste package for emplacement in a repository should be marked with a unique identification.

The identification should be recorded with the content and all relevant characteristics of the waste package. The identification markings should be durable for the required period of time.

Package identification is necessary to ensure safe handling, appropriate emplacement, accountability, radioactivity control, criticality control, inventory control and certification of compliance with specifications.

An inventory control system should be established to record the receipt of all wastes and document the manner and location of waste emplacement in the repository. Recording quantities of wastes and locations within the repository will help to assure proper thermal loading (for heat-producing wastes), and in location and retrieval of waste packages if this is required. Upon shutdown and closure of the repository these records will document the contents of the repository.

#### 5.2 Quality assurance criteria

Quality assurance of the waste packages as a part of the overall quality assurance programme for all activities from siting to closure and for all components of the disposal system should be established. Appropriate technical measures and organizational structures have to be adopted for this purpose.

5.2.1 Responsibilities and organization

<u>CRITERION</u>: Before acceptance of the waste for disposal, a programme of quality assurance should be established and responsibilities assigned, including responsibility for the quality of the waste and waste packages.

The development of a quality assurance programme has been described in published documents [46-51]. The responsibilities and authorities of key personnel and organizations should be defined together with the organizational structure within which activities are to be performed.

The organizations responsible for quality control of the waste should demonstrate and record that the quantitative waste acceptance criteria are being followed.

The quality of waste packages received for disposal should be checked by the repository operator to ensure compliance with the waste acceptance criteria. This control should be partially performed at the repository, at the storage facility of the waste producer and by an independent product control institute. Waste packages which do not comply with the requirements should be returned for reconditioning.

Tests and inspections of the conditioning process of the waste packages should be carried out routinely. Suitable tests and inspections should be developed and applied. Inspections of conditioning processes may be undertaken by the waste producer, waste conditioner or repository operator, depending on specific contractual arrangements. The operator of a repository is responsible for ensuring that only properly certified waste packages are accepted for disposal.

Supervision of waste production, waste conditioning and repository operation should be carried out by the national authorities including periodic audits of the quality assurance programme.

#### 5.2.2 Quality control

Quality control of waste packages ensures compliance with waste acceptance criteria and aids the repository operator.

It is necessary to identify the properties of waste packages which have to be controlled. These can be checked by,

- control of the conditioning process, and
- checks on waste packages.

The most appropriate method of quality control, which is necessary but uses minimum effort, should be selected.

#### 5.2.2.1 Control of the conditioning process

<u>CRITERION</u>: Control of the conditioning process should assure the required quality of the waste form and other parts of the waste packages.

The quality assurance of radioactive waste packages should preferably be carried out within the conditioning process (system-orientated control). It should be shown by inactive and active test runs that, under specified operating conditions, the conditioning process is able to produce waste packages of the required quality. Specifications including ranges and bandwidth of all essential process parameters of the conditioning process should be developed.

The process should be instrumented to measure and record the relevant process parameters to show that the process has been operating within the specified limits. Frequent inspections of the conditioning process complete the control.

5.2.2.2 Checks on waste packages

<u>CRITERION</u>: Checks on waste packages should be made to assure the quality of the waste form and other parts of the waste package.

The relevant properties of waste packages can be checked with non-destructive or destructive test methods (product control). Due to inherent difficulties e.g. the need for conditioning of secondary wastes and reconditioning of waste packages, product control should preferably be carried out by non-destructive methods.

#### 5.2.2.3 Records

<u>CRITERION</u>: The results of the quality control should be recorded.

All the relevant data of the waste producer, conditioner and the repository operator should be recorded. The record systems of the parties involved should be compatible to allow information exchange. It should be the responsibility of the competent national authority to decide the duration of record retention.

5.2.3 Compliance with codes and standards

<u>CRITERION</u>: Waste forms and waste packages shall be certified as being in compliance with applicable codes and standards prior to acceptance for disposal.

Applicable codes and standards will be as determined by the competent national authorities.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Safety Principles and Technical Criteria for the Underground Disposal of High Level Radioactive Wastes, Safety Series No.99, IAEA, Vienna (1989)
- [2] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Radioactive Waste Management Glossary, Second Edition, IAEA-TECDOC-447, Vienna (1988)
- [3] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Approach to Classifying Radioactive Waste, Technical Reports Series (in preparation), IAEA, Vienna.
- [4] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Underground Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Basic Guidance, Safety Series No. 54, IAEA, Vienna (1981)
- [5] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Shallow Ground Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, A Guidebook, Safety Series No. 53, IAEA, Vienna (1981)
- [6] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Disposal of Low- and Intermediate-Level Solid Radioactive Wastes in Rock Cavities, Safety Series No. 59, A Guidebook, IAEA, Vienna (1983)
- [7] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Criteria for Underground Disposal of Solid Radioactive Wastes, Safety Series No. 60, IAEA, Vienna (1983)
- [8] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Acceptance Criteria for Disposal of Radioactive Wastes in Shallow Ground and Rock Cavities, Safety Series No.71, IAEA, Vienna (1985)
- [9] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Recommendations of the International Commission on Radiological Protection, Publication No. 26, Pergamon Press (1977)
- [10] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Basic Safety Standards for Radiation Protection: 1982 Edition, Safety Series No. 9, IAEA, Vienna (1982)
- [11] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION, Radiation Protection Principles for the Disposal of Solid Radioactive Waste, Publication No. 46, Ann. ICRP Vol 15:4, Oxford (1985)
- [12] OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, Long Term Radiation Protection Objective for Radioactive Waste Disposal, Report, Paris (1984)
- [13] Sicherheitskriterien für die Endlagerung radioaktiver Abfälle in einen Bergwerk (Safety Criteria for the Disposal of Radioactive Wastes in a Mined Repository), F.R. Germany, Bundesanzeiger 35, Nr. 2, S. 45146 (1983)
- [14] Schutzziele für die Endlagerung radioaktiver Abfälle (Protection Objectives for the Disposal of Radioactive Wastes), Richtlinie für Kernanlagen R-21, Eidgenössische Kommission für die Sicherheit von Kernanlagen (KSA) und Abteilung für die Sicherheit der Kernanlagen (ASK), Switzerland (1980)

- [15] BERGMAN, C. et al, Review of KBS-3, National Institute of Radiological Protection, Report 84-05, Stockholm (1984)
- [16] UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION, 40 CFR, Part 191, "Environmental radiation protection standards for management and disposal of spent nuclear fuel, high level and transuranic radioactive wastes, subchapter F - radiation protection programs", Final Rule, Washington, D. C. (1985)
- [17] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Guidance for Regulation of Underground Repositories for Disposal of Radioactive Wastes, Safety Series No. 96, IAEA, Vienna (1989)
- [18] Radioactive Waste Management (Proc. Int. Conf. Seattle, 1983)
  5 vols, IAEA, Vienna (1984)
- [19] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Techniques for the Solidification of High-Level Wastes, Technical Reports Series No. 176 IAEA, Vienna (1977)
- [20] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Evaluation of Solidified High-Level Waste Forms, IAEA-TECDOC-239, IAEA, Vienna (1981)
- [21] COMPAGNIE GENERALE DES MATIERES NUCLEAIRES, Specifications of Vitrified Residues Produced from Reprocessing at UP2 or UP3-A La Hague Plants, First Series, COGEMA, Cedex (1984)
- [22] SWEDISH NUCLEAR FUEL SUPPLY COMPANY, Final Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel - KBS-3, Stockholm (1983)
- [23] UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, Mission Plan for the Civilian Radioactive Waste Management Program, 2 vols, DOE/RW-005, Washington, D.C. (1984)
- [24] OECD NUCLEAR ENERGY AGENCY, Shallow Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste; Reference Levels for the Acceptance of Long-lived Radionuclides, Report No. 761, Paris (1987)
- [25] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Conditioning of Low- and Intermediate-Level Radioactive Wastes, Technical Reports Series No. 222 IAEA, Vienna (1983)
- [26] Conditioning of Radioactive Wastes for Storage and Disposal (Proc. Int. Symp. Utrecht, 1982), IAEA, Vienna (1983)
- [27] SNELLMAN, M., VALKIAINEN, M., "Long-term behaviour of bituminized waste" Waste Management 86 (Proc. Symp. Tucson, 1986), 3 vols. Vol. 3 (POST, R.G., Ed), USA (1986) 501-507
- [28] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Treatment of Low- and Intermediate-Level Solid Radioactive Wastes, Technical Report Series No.223, IAEA, Vienna (1983)
- [29] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material, Safety Series No. 6, 1973 Revised Edition (as amended), IAEA, Vienna (1985)

ł

- [30] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Site Selection Factors for Repositories of Solid High-Level and Alpha-Bearing Wastes in Geological Formations, Technical Reports Series No.177, IAEA, Vienna (1977)
- [31] Siting, Design and Construction of Underground Repositories for Radioactive Wastes (Proc. Int. Symp., Hannover, 1986), IAEA, Vienna (1986)
- [32] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Deep Underground Disposal of Radioactive Wastes - Near Field Effects, Technical Reports Series No. 251, IAEA, Vienna (1985)
- [33] CROFT, A. G., ORIGEN2-A Revised and Updated Version of the Oak Ridge Isotope Generation and Depletion Code, ORNL-5621, Oak Ridge Natl Lab., TN (1980)
- [34] COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, Admissible Thermal Loading in Geologic Formations, 4 vols. EUR 8179, Luxembourg (1982)
- [35] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Effects of Heat from High-Level Waste on Performance of Deep Geological Repository Components, TECDOC-319, IAEA, Vienna (1984)
- [36] WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION, Waste Package Reference Conceptual Designs for a Repository in Salt, Rep. ONWI-517, Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, OH (1985)
- [37] WESTINGHOUSE ELECTRIC CORPORATION, Waste Package Concepts for Use in the Conceptual Design of the Nuclear Waste Repository in Basalt, Rep. AESD-TME-3142 (1982)
- [38] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Characteristics of Solidified High-Level Waste Products, Technical Reports Series No. 187 IAEA, Vienna (1979)
- [39] MENDEL, J.E.et al., State-of-the-Art Review of Materials Properties of Nuclear Waste Forms, Rep. PNL-3802, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington (1981)
- [40] LUTZE, W. et al, "Radiation, thermal and mechanical effects in HLW glass", Radioactive Waste Management and Disposal (Proc. Second EC Conf. Luxembourg, 1985), EUR 10163, Luxembourg (1985) 232-250
- [41] WARNECKE, E., ILLI, H., EHRLICH, D., "Evaluation of product specifications with a safety analysis for a disposal mine", Scientific Basis for Nuclear Waste Management (Proc. Int. Symp. Boston, 1980), Vol. 3 (MOORE, J. G., Ed), Plenum Press, New York, London (1981) 19-26
- [42] UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION, 10 CFR, Part 60, "Technical criteria for regulating geological disposal of high level radioactive waste", Federal Register Vol. 45 No 94, Washington, D.C. (1980)
- [43] HILL, M.D., Analysis of the Effect of Variations in Parameter Values on the Predicted Radiological Consequences of Geologic Disposal of High-Level Waste, National Radiological Protection Board, Rep. NRPB-R86, Oxfordshire, UK (1979)

- [44] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Characteristics of Radioactive Waste Forms Conditioned for Storage and Disposal. Guidance for the Development of Waste Acceptance Criteria, IAEA-TECDOC-285 (1983)
- [45] INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY, Chemical Durability and Related Properties of Solidified High-Level Waste Forms, Technical Reports Series No.257, IAEA, Vienna (1985).
- [46] DEPARTMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT, Quality Assurance in Processing Radioactive Waste for Land Disposal, Radioactive Waste Management: Information Note No. 2, London (1984)
- [47] WARNECKE, E., EIGENWILLIG, G.G., ODOJ, R., MARTENS, B.R., "Concept and realization of quality control for radioactive wastes", Radioactive Waste Products - Suitability for Final Disposal (Int. Sem. Jülich, 1985) Report Jül.-Conf-54 (MERZ, E., ODOJ, R., WARNECKE, E., Eds.), Jülich (1985) 63-76
- [48] FORSSTROM, H., "Swedish program for quality assurance of reactor waste", Radioactive Waste Products - Suitability for Final Disposal (Int. Sem. Jülich, 1985) Report Jül.-Conf-54 (MERZ, E., ODOJ, R., WARNECKE, E., Eds.), Jülich (1985) 44-53
- [49] SCHNEIDER, V.W., CHRIST, B.G., "Measures for product control during the treatment of radioactive waste", Radioactive Waste Products -Suitability for Final Disposal (Int. Sem. Jülich, 1985) Report Jul.-Conf-54 (MERZ, E., ODOJ, R., WARNECKE, E., Eds.), Jülich (1985) 77-85
- [50] ALDER, J.C., HOURIET, J.P., "Concepts for experimental control of radioactive wastes to be disposed of in Switzerland", Radioactive Waste Products - Suitability for Final Disposal (Int. Sem. Jülich, 1985) Report Jul.-Conf-54 (MERZ, E., ODOJ, R., WARNECKE, E., Eds.), Jülich (1985) 54-82
- [51] SIMON, R., KRISCHER, W., PRICE, M.S.T., "The Challenge of quality assurance in radioactive waste management and disposal" (Proc. 2nd CEC Conf. Luxembourg, 1985) (SIMON, R., Ed.), Cambridge (1986) 294-312

## LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

# <u>Consultants' Meeting</u> Vienna, 17 - 21 June 1985

Benz, E.	Weston 2301 Research Boulevard Rockville, MD 20850 United States of America
Thomas, K.T. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Warnecke, E.	Physikalisch-Technische Bundesanstalt (PTB) Bundesallee 100 D-3300 Braunschweig, Federal Republic of Germany
Wingefors, S.	Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) Box 102 52 Stockholm, Sweden

## Advisory Group Meeting Vienna, 27 - 31 January 1986

Benz, E.	Roy Weston Company 2301 Research Blvd., 3rd Floor Rockville, MD 20850, United States of America
Boulitrop, D.	ANDRA B.P. 510 69 Quai de Grenelle F-75015 Paris, France
Flowers, R.H.	NIREX Harwell, Didcot Oxon OX11 ORA, United Kingdom
Mathur, R.K.	Bhabha Atomic Research Centre Repository Project Section Trombay, Bombay 400 085, India
Schweingruber, M.	Federal Office of Energy Nuclear Safety Department CH-5303 Würenlingen, Switzerland
Tashiro, S.	WASTEF Operation Division Dept. of Environmental Safety Research, JAERI Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki-ken Pref. 319-11, Japan

Thomas, K.T. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Warnecke, E.	Physikalisch-Technische Bundesanstalt (PTB) Bundesallee 100 D-3300 Braunschweig, Federal Republic of Germany
Wingefors, S.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) Box 27106 S-102 52 Stockholm, Sweden
ORGANIZATION	
Simon, R.	Direction générale de la Science, de la Recherche et du Développement CEC Rue de la Loi 200 B-1049 Bruxelles
OBSERVERS	
Bergman, C.	National Institute of Radiation Protection Box 60204 S-104 01 Stockholm, Sweden
Mishima, T.	PNC 1-9-13 Akasaka, Minato-ku Tokyo, Japan
Vovk, I.F.	Department of Research and Isotopes, RIRL International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria

## Seventh Meeting of the Technical Review Committee on Underground Disposal of Radioactive Waste (TRCUD)

Vienna, 10-14 February 1986

Baas, J.L.	Ministry of Housing, Planning and the Environment P.O. Box 20951 NL-2500 EZ The Hague, Netherlands
Cooley, C.	US Department of Energy 1000 Independence Ave. SW Washington DC 20585 United States of America

Heremans, R.	ONDRAF Boulevard du Régent 54, Boîte 5 B-1000 Bruxelles, Belgium
Johnston, P.D.	Department of the Environment Romney House, Room A516 43 Marsham Street London SW1P 3PY, United Kingdom
Jourde, P.	CEA/DED B.P. No. 6 F-92260 Fontenay-aux-Roses France
Kubota, M.	Radioactive Waste Partitioning Research Laboratory, Dept. of Environmental Safety Nuclear Safety Research Centre, JAERI Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki-ken 319-11, Japan
Larsson, A.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) Box 27106 S-102 52 Stockholm, Sweden
Malasek, E.	Czechoslovak Atomic Energy Commission Slezska 9, Prague 2 Czechoslovakia
Nuttall, K.	Atomic Energy of Canada Limited Whiteshell Nuclear Research Est. Pinawa, Manitoba ROE 1LO, Canada
Palacios, E.	National Commission of Atomic Energy 8250 Avenida del Libertador 1429 Buenos Aires, Argentina
Thomas, K.T. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria

## ORGANIZATIONS

Carlyle, S. Radiation Protection and Radioactive Waste Management Div. OECD/Nuclear Energy Agency 38 boulevard Suchet F-75016 Paris, France

Orlowski, S. CEC Rue de la Loi 200 B-1049 Brussels, Belgium

## OBSERVERS

Boge, R.	National Institute of Radiation Protection Boy 60204
	Box 60204 S-104 01 Stockholm 60, Sweden
Bonno N N	OPN /SCV
Bonne, A.A.	CEN/SCK Boeretang 200
	B-2400 Mol, Belgium
	B 2400 HOL, BEIGIUM
Chapuis, A.M.	CEA-IPSN
	B.P. No. 6
	F-92260 Fontenay-aux-Roses, France
Crabtree, D. F.	MAFF
	65 Romney Street
	London SW1, United Kingdom
Hamstra, J.	Director, AVORA B.V.
	Irenelaan 16
	Bergen (N.H.), Netherlands
Harrington, E.	Health and Safety Executive
-	Nuclear Installations Inspectorate
	St. Peters House, Balliol Road
	Bootle, Merseyside L20 3LZ
	United Kingdom
Rydell, N.	National Board for Spent Nuclear
	Fuel
	Box 2045
	S-103 11 Stockholm, Sweden
Tsuchiya, S.	Atomic Energy Bureau
	Nuclear Fuel Division
	Science and Technology Agency
	2-2-1 Kasumigaseki
	Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100, Japan
ODCANT 7 ATTONS	
ORGANIZATIONS	
Portozzi M C	CEC Joint Pocearch Centre

Bertozzi, M. G.	CEC Joint Research Centre Ispra Establishment I-21020 Ispra (Varese)
Parker, F.	Vanderbilt University Box 1596, Station B Nashville, TN 37235, United States of America

## Consultants' Meeting

## Vienna, 23-27 March 1987

Bonne, A.A.	CEN/SCK Boeretang 200 B-2400 Mol, Belgium
Kurtz, K.	CEDRA Parkstrasse 23 CH-5401 Baden, Switzerland
Vovk, I.F. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Wingefors, S.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) Box 27106 S-102 52 Stockholm, Sweden

# Ninth Meeting of the Technical Review Committee on Underground Disposal of Radioactive Waste (TRCUD)

Vienna, 15-19 February 1988

Carlyle, S.	Department of the Environment Romney House, Room A516 43 Marsham Street London SW1P 3PY, United Kingdom
Cornelissen, A.	Ministry of Housing, Physical Planning and the Environment P.O. Box 450 NL-2260 MB Leidschendam The Hague, Netherlands
Heremans, R.	ONDRAF Boulevard du Regent 54 B-1000 Brussels, Belgium
Kinsky, Th.	DT/DGED - CEA/CEM FAR BP No. 6 F-92260 Fontenay aux Roses, France
Kühn, K.	Gesellschaft für Strahlen-und Umweltforschung mbH Theodor-Heuss-Strasse 4 D-3300 Braunschweig, Federal Republic of Germany

Larsson, A.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Box 17106 S-102 52 Stockholm, Sweden
Malasek, E.	Czechoslovak Atomic Energy Commission Slezska 9 Prague 2, Czechoslovakia
Nuttall, K.	Atomic Energy of Canada Limited Whiteshell Nuclear Research Establishment Pinawa, Manitoba ROE 1LO, Canada
Palacios, E.	National Commission of Atomic Energy 8250 Avenida del Libertador 1429 Buenos Aires, Argentina
Rometsch, R.	CEDRA Parkstrasse 23 CH-5401 Baden, Switzerland
Saltzman, J.D.	Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management U.S. Dept. of Energy Washington, D.C. 20585 United States of America
Ueki, T.	Deputy Director Office of Radioactive Waste Management Nuclear Fuel Division, Atomic Energy Bureau Science and Technology Agency 2-2-1 Kasumigaseki Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100, Japan
Vovk, I.F. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Zappe, D.	National Board of Nuclear Safety & Radiation Protection Waldow-Allee 117 1157 Berlin
ORGANIZATIONS	
Venet, P.	Commission of the European Communities 200, rue de la Loi B-1049 Brussels, Belgium
Olivier, J.P.	Nuclear Energy Agency Organization for Economic Co-operation & Development 38, boulevard Suchet F-75016 Paris, France

# OBSERVERS

l

ļ

Araki, K.	Dept. of Environmental Engineering Chuo Kaihatsu Corp. International 3-12-3, Nishi-Waseda Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160, Japan
Aslam, J.	Attaché Embassy of Pakistan Hofzeile 13 A-1190 Vienna, Austria
Benassai, S.	Division of Standards for Radioprotection ENEA/DISP Italian Directorate for Nuclear Safety and Health Protection Via Vitaliano Brancati, 48 I-00144 Rome, Italy
Baehr, W.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Boge, R.	National Institute of Radiation Protection Box 602 04 S-104 01 Stockholm, Sweden
Chapuis, A.M.	CEA/IPSN/DPT - CEN/FAR BP Nr. 6 92260 Fontenay aux Roses, France
Cooley, C.	Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management U.S. Dept. of Energy Washington, D.C. 20585, United States of America
Feraday, M.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Glasbergen, P.	RIVM P.O. Box 1 37200 BA Bilthoven, Netherlands
Hirling, J.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Linsley, G.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria

OBSERVERS (Cont.)	
Ma, Mingxie	Institute of Radiation Protection P.O. Box 120 Taiyuan, China
Mano, T.	Waste Management Section Administration Division PNC O-arai Engineering Center, Oarai-machi, Higashi Ibaraki-gun Ibaraki Pref. 311-13, Japan
Norrby, S.	Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Box 27106 S-102 52 Stockholm, Sweden
Piermattei, S.	Head, Division of Environmental Radioactivity ENEA/DISP Italian Directorate for Nuclear Safety and Health Protection Via Vitaliano Brancati, 48 I-00144 Rome, Italy
Rydell, N.	The National Board for Spent Nuclear Fuel Sehlstedtsgatan 9 S-115 28 Stockholm, Sweden
Senoo, M.	Department of Environmental Safety Research Tokai Research Establishment Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki-ken Pref. 319-11, Japan
Squires, D.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Thomas, K.T.	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Tomimatsu, M.	Land Disposal Division Radioactive Waste Management Center No. 15, Mori Building 2-8-10, Toranomon Minato-ku, Tokyo, 105, Japan
Vuori, S.	Technical Research Centre of Finland Nuclear Engineering Laboratory Lönnrotinkatu 37 SF-00180 Helsinki, Finland
Waclawek, Z.	National Atomic Energy Agency 00-921 Warszawa Krucza 36, Poland

# Consultants' Meeting

# Vienna, 2-6 October 1989

Dlouhy, Z. (Scientific Secretary)	Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management International Atomic Energy Agency P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna, Austria
Clelland, D.W.	Nuclear Industry Consultant 61 Beechways Appleton, Warrington Cheshire WA4 5ER United Kingdom